

Managerial Accounting

Creating Value in a Dynamic Business Environment

Twelfth Edition

Ronald W. Hilton

Cornell University

David E. Platt

University of Texas at Austin





Brief Contents



- The Crucial Role of Managerial Accounting in a Dynamic Business Environment 2
- 2. Basic Cost Management Concepts 34
- Product Costing and Cost Accumulation in a Batch
 Production Environment 80
- 4. Process Costing and Hybrid Product-Costing Systems 136
- 5. Activity-Based Costing and Management 168
- 6. Activity Analysis, Cost Behavior, and Cost Estimation 232
- 7. Cost-Volume-Profit Analysis 282
- 8. Variable Costing and the Measurement of ESG and Quality Costs 332
- 9. Financial Planning and Analysis: The Master Budget 368
- **10.** Standard Costing and Analysis of Direct Costs **430**
- 11. Flexible Budgeting and Analysis of Overhead Costs 474
- **12.** Responsibility Accounting and the Balanced Scorecard **520**
- 13. Investment Centers and Transfer Pricing 572
- **14.** Decision Making: Relevant Costs and Benefits 616
- **15.** Target Costing and Cost Analysis for Pricing Decisions **666**
- **16.** Capital Expenditure Decisions **708**
- 17. Allocation of Support Activity Costs and Joint Costs 760

Appendix I: The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, Internal Controls, and Management Accounting 788

Appendix II: Compound Interest and the Concept of Present Value 794

Appendix III: Inventory Management 802

References for "In Their Own Words" 809

Glossary 812

Index of Companies and Organizations 823

Index of Subjects 826

Focus on Ethics Statement 848







1 The Crucial Role of Managerial Accounting in a Dynamic Business Environment 2

Managerial Accounting: A Business Partnership with Management 4

Managing Resources, Activities, and People 5

Decision Making 6

Planning 6

Directing Operational Activities 6

Controlling 6

How Managerial Accounting Adds Value to the Organization **7**

Objectives of Managerial Accounting Activity 7

M.A.P. Using Managerial Accounting To Monetize the Internet 8

The Balanced Scorecard 10

Managerial Accounting in Different Types of Organizations 11

Managerial versus Financial Accounting 11

Where Do We Find Managerial Accountants in an Organization? *13*

Cross-Functional Deployment 15

The Operational Context of Managerial Accounting 16

Managerial Accounting and the Value Chain 17

Capacity and Capacity Costs 18

M.A.P. Managing the Costs of Unused Capacity in the Auto Industry: A Global Challenge 21

Big Data, Data Analytics, and Managerial Accounting 21

Managerial Accounting as a Career 23

Professional Organizations 23

Professional Certification 23

Managerial Accounting and the Ethical Climate of Business **24**

Focus on Ethics: IMA Statement of Ethical Professional Practice **25**

Chapter Summary 26

Key Terms 27

Review Questions 28

Exercises 28

Problems 29

Case 31



2 Basic Cost Management Concepts 34

What Do We Mean by a Cost? 36

Product Costs, Period Costs, and Expenses 37

Costs on Financial Statements 38

Income Statement 38

Balance Sheet 41

Manufacturing Operations and Manufacturing Costs 41

Assembly Manufacturing 42

Manufacturing Costs 42

Manufacturing Cost Flows 45

NonManufacturing Production Costs 47

Basic Cost Management Concepts: Different Costs for Different Purposes 47

Cost Drivers 48

Variable and Fixed Costs 48

M.A.P. Managing Health Care Costs Through Cost Behavior 51

Cost Management and Accountability 52

Economic Cost Concepts 53

Costs and Benefits of Information 57

M.A.P. How Airlines Make Money Today 57

Costs in the Service Industry 58

Focus on Ethics: Ethics 101: Is "Just Following Orders" an Acceptable Excuse? **60**

Chapter Summary 61

Review Problems on Cost Classifications 62

Key Terms 63

Review Questions 64

Exercises 65

Problems 68

Cases 77



Contents xxv



3 Product Costing and Cost Accumulation in a Batch Production Environment 80

Product and Service Costing 82

Product Costing in Nonmanufacturing Firms 84

Flow of Costs in Manufacturing Firms 84

Types of Product-Costing Systems 86

Job-Order Costing Systems 86

Process-Costing Systems 87

Summary of Product-Costing System Alternatives 87

Accumulating Costs in a Job-Order Costing System **87**

Job-Cost Record 88

Direct-Material Costs 89

M.A.P. Big Data "Use Cases" In Managing Costs and Profits 90

Direct-Labor Costs 91

Manufacturing-Overhead Costs 92

Summary of Event Sequence in Job-Order

Costing 94

Illustration of Job-Order Costing 94

Purchase of Material 94

Use of Direct Material 94

Use of Indirect Material 96

Use of Direct Labor 96

Use of Indirect Labor 97

Manufacturing-Overhead Costs Incurred 97

Application of Manufacturing Overhead 98

Summary of Overhead Accounting 98

Selling and Administrative Costs 99

Completion of a Production Job 100

Sale of Goods 100

Underapplied and Overapplied Overhead 100

Schedule of Cost of Goods Manufactured 103

Schedule of Cost of Goods Sold 103

Posting Journal Entries to the Ledger 104

Further Aspects of Overhead Application 106

Actual and Normal Costing 106

Choosing the Cost Driver for Overhead Application 107

Departmental Overhead Rates 107

Two-Stage Cost Allocation 107

Project Costing: Job-Order Costing in Nonmanufacturing Organizations 108

Focus on Ethics: Learning from Past Mistakes: Boeing Finds it Doesn't Pay to Hide Problems from Investors 111

Chapter Summary 112

Review Problem on Job-Order Costing 113

Key Terms 114

Review Questions 115

Exercises 116

Problems 121



4 Process Costing and Hybrid Product-Costing Systems 136

Comparison of Job-Order Costing and Process Costing 138

Flow of Costs 138

Differences Between Job-Order and Process Costing 140

Equivalent Units: A Key Concept 140

Equivalent Units 140

Illustration of Process Costing 142

Basic Data for Illustration 143

M.A.P. New York Wine Industry 144

Weighted-Average Method of Process Costing 145

Other Issues in Process Costing 149

Actual versus Normal Costing 149

Other Cost Drivers for Overhead Application 149

Subsequent Production Departments 149

Hybrid Product-Costing Systems 150

Operation Costing for Batch Manufacturing Processes 150

Chapter Summary 153

Review Problem on Process Costing 154

Key Terms 155



Conten

Review Questions 155
Exercises 156
Problems 159

Case 167



5 Activity-Based Costing and Management 168

Traditional, Volume-Based Product-Costing System 171

Trouble in Denver 172

Activity-Based Costing System 172

ABC Stage One 173

ABC Stage Two 174

Interpreting the ABC Product Costs 177

The Punch Line 179

Why Traditional Volume-Based Systems Distort

Product Costs 180

M.A.P. Cost Distortion at Rockwell International 182

Activity-Based Costing: Some Key Issues 182

Cost Drivers 183

M.A.P. Big Data and Activity-Based Costing in Services 183

Collecting ABC Data 185

Activity Dictionary and Bill of Activities 187

Activity-Based Management 187

Two-Dimensional ABC 187

Using ABM to Identify Non–Value-Added Activities and Costs 188

Customer-Profitability Analysis 190

Illustration of Customer-Profitability Analysis 191

M.A.P. Customer Profitability Analysis at Bank One Corp. 192

Activity-Based Costing in the Service Industry 194

Time-Driven Activity-Based Costing 194

Activity-Based Costing at Immunity Medical

Center 195

Interpreting the Primary Care Unit's TDABC Information 197

Focus on Ethics: Conflict of Interest: Ethical Challenges In Making Product Changes 198

Chapter Summary 199

Review Problem on Cost Drivers and Product-Cost Distortion 200

Key Terms 201
Review Questions 202

Exercises 202 Problems 208

Cases 227



6 Activity Analysis, Cost Behavior, and Cost Estimation 232

Cost Behavior Patterns 235

Variable Costs 235

Step-Variable Costs 236

Fixed Costs 236

Step-Fixed Costs 237

Semivariable Cost 239

Curvilinear Cost 240

Using Cost Behavior Patterns to Predict

Costs 241

M.A.P. Is Direct Labor a Variable or a Fixed Cost? 242

Engineered, Committed, and Discretionary
Costs 243

Cost Behavior in Other Industries 244

Cost Estimation 244

Account-Classification Method 245

Visual-Fit Method 245

High-Low Method 247

Least-Squares Regression Method 248

Multiple Regression 250

Data Collection Issues 250

Engineering Method of Cost Estimation 251

Big Data and Data Analytics 252

Characteristics and Potential Uses of Big Data 252

Data Analytics and Data Visualization 253

Effect of Learning on Cost Behavior 258

Focus on Ethics: Cisco Systems, Walmart, Taco Bell, Starbucks, U-Haul, General Dynamics, and Farmers Insurance: Is Direct Labor a Variable Cost? **259**

Chapter Summary 260

Review Problems on Cost Behavior and Estimation 261

Key Terms 262

Appendix to Chapter 6: Least-Squares Regression Using Microsoft® Excel 262

Review Questions 264



Contents xxvii

Exercises 265
Problems 270
Cases 279



7 Cost-Volume-Profit Analysis 282

Illustration of Cost-Volume-Profit Analysis 285

Projected Expenses and Revenue 285

The Break-Even Point 286

Contribution-Margin Approach 286

Graphing Cost-Volume-Profit Relationships 288
Interpreting the CVP Graph 289
Alternative Format for the CVP Graph 291
Profit-Volume Graph 291

Target Profit 291

Contribution-Margin Approach 292 Equation Approach 292 Graphical Approach 293

Applying CVP Analysis 293

Safety Margin 293

Changes in Fixed Expenses 293

Changes in the Unit Contribution Margin 294
Predicting Profit Given Expected Volume 295
Interdependent Changes in Key Variables 296
CVP Information in Published Annual Reports 297

M.A.P. Faced with Intensifying Competition, Airlines Keep an Eye on Break-Even Load Factors 297

CVP Analysis with Multiple Products 298

Assumptions Underlying CVP Analysis 300

Role of Spreadsheets and Computerized Planning
Models 300

CVP Relationships and the Income Statement 301

Traditional Income Statement 301

Contribution Income Statement 301

Comparison of Traditional and Contribution

Cost Structure and Operating Leverage 303

Operating Leverage 304

Income Statements 302

M.A.P. Operating Leverage Helps Some Web Companies to be Profitable 305

Cost Structure and Operating Leverage: A Cost-Benefit Issue 306 CVP Analysis, Activity-Based Costing, and Advanced Manufacturing Systems 306

A Move Toward JIT and Flexible Manufacturing 307

Chapter Summary 310

Review Problem on Cost-Volume-Profit Analysis 311

Key Terms 311

Appendix to Chapter 7: Effect of Income Taxes 312

Review Questions 314

Exercises 315
Problems 317

Cases 328



8 Variable Costing and the Measurement of ESG and Quality Costs 332

Section 1: Absorption and Variable Costing 334

Fixed Manufacturing Overhead: The Key 335

Illustration of Absorption and Variable

Costing 336

Absorption-Costing Income Statements 336

Variable-Costing Income Statements 337

Reconciling Income under Absorption and Variable Costing 337

Cost-Volume-Profit Analysis 339

Evaluation of Absorption and Variable Costing 339

M.A.P. IRS: Unique Product Packaging is an Inventoriable Cost 341

Section 2: Costs of Assuring Quality 341

Measuring and Reporting Quality Costs 341

Changing Views of Optimal Product Quality 343

M.A.P. Six Sigma For Quality Management And Cost Reduction 346

ISO 9000 Standards 346

Section 3: Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Initiatives *348*

Measuring ESG Outcomes and Performance 348

Measuring ESG Costs 349

Managing Private Environmental Costs 352

Focus on Ethics: Incentive to Overproduce Inventory 353

Chapter Summary 354

Review Problem on Absorption and Variable Costing 355

Key Terms 356





Review Questions 357

Exercises 357
Problems 360
Cases 365



9 Financial Planning and Analysis: The Master Budget 368

Financial Planning and Analysis (FP&A) Systems *370*

Purposes of Budgeting 371
Types of Budgets 372

The Master Budget: A Planning Tool 372

Sales of Services or Goods 372
Sales Forecasting 373
Operational Budgets 374

Financing Budgets 375

M.A.P. The Budget: Valuable Planning Tool or Costly Waste of Time? 376

Budgeted Financial Statements 377

Activity-Based Budgeting 377

Developing the Master Budget 378

Sales Budget 380

Purchases Budget 381 Direct Labor Budget 381

Production Overhead and SG&A Budgets 383

Financing Budgets 384

Budgeted Financial Statements 387

Summary: Key Features of a Master Budget 388

Extending the Master Budget for a Manufacturing Firm **389**

Production Budget 390

Direct-Material Budget 391

Budgeted Schedule of Cost of Goods

Manufactured and Sold 393

Budgeted Balance Sheet 394

Assumptions and Predictions Underlying the Master Budget 395

Financial Planning Models 396

Budget Administration 396

M.A.P. Budgeting, Done Right, is Very Big Data! 397

International Aspects of Budgeting 399

Behavioral Impact of Budgets 399

Budgetary Slack: Padding the Budget 399 Participative Budgeting 400

Focus on Ethics: Padding the Budget: Unethical

Action or Sensible Precaution? 401

Chapter Summary 401

Review Problem on Preparing Master Budget

Schedules 402

Key Terms 404

Review Questions 404

Exercises 405

Problems 409

Cases 422



10 Standard Costing and Analysis of Direct Costs 430

Managing Costs 432

Management by Exception 433

Setting Standards 434

Methods for Setting Standards 434

Participation in Setting Standards 434

Perfection versus Practical Standards: A

Behavioral Issue 435

Use of Standards by Service Organizations 435

Cost Variance Analysis 436

Direct-Material Standards 436

Direct-Labor Standards 437

Standard Costs Given Actual Output 437

Analysis of Cost Variances 438

Direct-Material Variances 439

Direct-Labor Variances 441

M.A.P. Challenges in FP&A and Variance Data Analytics 443

Multiple Types of Direct Material or Direct Labor 444

Allowing for Production Loss 444

Significance of Cost Variances 445

A Statistical Approach 447

Behavioral Impact of Standard Costing 448





Controllability of Variances 448

Interaction among Variances 449

Standard Costs and Product Costing 450

Evaluation of Standard Costing Systems 451

Advantages of Standard Costing 451

Criticisms of Standard Costing in Today's

M.A.P. Working With Suppliers to Manage Costs 453

Manufacturing Environment 452

Focus on Ethics: Bogus Bonus: Sacrificing Quality To Cut Standard Costs 454

Chapter Summary 455

Review Problem on Standard Costing and Analysis of

Direct Costs 455

Key Terms 457

Appendix to Chapter 10: Use of Standard Costs

for Product Costing 458

Review Questions 460

Exercises 460

Problems 462

Cases 471



11 Flexible Budgeting and Analysis of Overhead Costs 474

Overhead Budgets 476

Flexible Budgets 477

Advantages of Flexible Budgets 477

The Activity Measure 478

Flexible Overhead Budget Illustrated 479

Formula Flexible Budget 479

Overhead Application in a Standard-Costing System 481

Choice of Activity Measure 482

Criteria for Choosing the Activity Measure 482

Cost Management Using Overhead Cost

Variances 483

Variable Overhead 484

Fixed Overhead 487

Overhead Cost Performance Report 490

Activity-Based Flexible Budget 491

M.A.P. Cost Management Systems in Germany 492

Flexible Budgeting in the Service Industry 493

Focus on Ethics: Wool Meet Eyes: Is Self-

Deception Unethical? 494

Chapter Summary 495

Review Problem on Flexible Budgeting and Analysis of

Overhead Costs 496

Key Terms 497

Appendix A to Chapter 11: Standard Costs and Product

Costing 498

Appendix B to Chapter 11: Sales Variances 499

Review Questions 500

Exercises 501
Problems 504

Cases 516



12 Responsibility Accounting and the Balanced Scorecard 520

Section 1: Responsibility Accounting 523

Responsibility Centers 523

Illustration of Responsibility Accounting 524

Performance Reports 526

Budgets, Variance Analysis, and Responsibility

Accounting 529

Cost Allocation 529

Cost Allocation Bases 529

Allocation Bases Based on Budgets 530

Behavioral Effects of Responsibility

Accounting 531

Information versus Blame 531

Controllability 531

Motivating Desired Behavior 531

Segmented Reporting 532

Segments versus Segment Managers 534

Key Features of Segmented Reporting 534





Section 2: The Balanced Scorecard 534

What Is a "Balanced Scorecard"? 535

Flit FinTech: A Balanced Scorecard Example 538

M.A.P. The Balanced Scorecard in an Established Company 544

Lead and Lag Measures: The Key to the Balanced Scorecard 545

Balanced Scorecard and the Chain of Cause and Effect 546

M.A.P. Using Cause and Effect to Link the Balanced Scorecard to Strategy 547

Focus on Ethics: Short Term Gain, Long Term

Pain? **549**

Chapter Summary 550

Review Problems on Responsibility Accounting and the

Balanced Scorecard 550

Key Terms 552

Appendix to Chapter 12: Operational Performance

Measures 553

Review Questions 555

Exercises 556
Problems 560
Cases 569



13 Investment Centers and Transfer Pricing 572

Delegation of Decision Making 574

Obtaining Goal Congruence: A Behavioral Challenge 575

Adaptation of Management Control Systems 575

Measuring Performance in Investment

Centers 576

Return on Investment 576

Residual Income 578

Economic Value Added 581

M.A.P. Pay for Performance Based on EVA 582

Measuring Income and Invested Capital 583

Invested Capital 583

Measuring Investment-Center Income 586 Inflation: Historical-Cost versus Current-Value Accounting 587 Other Issues in Segment Performance Evaluation *587*

Alternatives to ROI, Residual Income, and Economic Value Added (EVA) 587 Importance of Nonfinancial Information 588 Measuring Performance in Nonprofit Organizations 588

Transfer Pricing 589

Goal Congruence 589

General Transfer-Pricing Rule 590

Transfers Based on the External Market Price 593

Negotiated Transfer Prices 594

Cost-Based Transfer Prices 595

Standard versus Actual Costs 596

Undermining Divisional Autonomy 596

An International Perspective 596

M.A.P. Transfer Pricing and Tax Issues 597

Transfer Pricing in the Service Industry 598

Behavioral Issues: Risk Aversion and

Incentives 598

Goal Congruence and Internal Control Systems 599

Focus on Ethics: What If Your Company Based Your Raise On *Next* Year's Performance? **600**

Chapter Summary 600

Review Problems on Investment Centers and Transfer

Pricing 601

Key Terms 602

Review Questions 603

Exercises 603

Problems 606

Cases 611



14 Decision Making: Relevant Costs and Benefits 616

The Managerial Accountant's Role in Decision Making 618

Steps in the Decision-Making Process 619
Quantitative versus Qualitative Analysis 619
Obtaining Information: Relevance, Accuracy, and Timeliness 620

Relevant Information 621

Unique versus Repetitive Decisions 622 Importance of Identifying Relevant Costs and Benefits 622





Identifying Relevant Costs and Benefits 622

Sunk Costs 622

Irrelevant Future Costs and Benefits 625

Opportunity Costs 625

Summary 626

Analysis of Special Decisions 626

Accept or Reject a Special Offer 626

Outsource a Product or Service 628

M.A.P. Insourcing Makes a Come-Back 629

Add or Drop a Service, Product, or Department 631

M.A.P. Adding Services to Stay Competitive 633

Special Decisions in Manufacturing Firms 633

Joint Products: Sell or Process Further 633

Decisions Involving Limited Resources 635

Uncertainty 637

Activity-Based Costing and Today's Advanced Manufacturing Environment 638

Conventional Outsourcing (Make-or-Buy)

Analysis 638
Activity-Based Costing Analysis of the

Outsourcing Decision 638

Other Issues in Decision Making 640

Incentives for Decision Makers 640

Short-Run versus Long-Run Decisions 641

Pitfalls to Avoid 641

Focus on Ethics: Effects of a Decision to Close a

Department and Outsource 642

Chapter Summary 643

Review Problem on Relevant Costs 643

Key Terms 644

Appendix to Chapter 14: Linear Programming 645

Review Questions 647

Exercises 648

Problems 651

Cases 663



15 Target Costing and Cost Analysis for Pricing Decisions 666

Major Influences on Pricing Decisions 668

Customer Demand 669

Actions of Competitors 669

Costs 669

Political, Legal, and Image-Related Issues 670

Economic Profit-Maximizing Pricing 670

Contents

Total Revenue, Demand, and Marginal Revenue

Curves 670

Total Cost and Marginal Cost Curves 672

Profit-Maximizing Price and Quantity 672

Price Elasticity 675

Limitations of the Profit-Maximizing Model 675

Costs and Benefits of Information 675

Role of Accounting Product Costs in Pricing 676

Cost-Plus Pricing 676

Absorption-Cost Pricing Formulas 677

Variable-Cost Pricing Formulas 678

Determining the Markup 678

M.A.P. E-Tailers and Retailers Embroiled

in Price Wars 680

Cost-Plus Pricing: Summary and Evaluation 680

Strategic Pricing of New Products 681

Target Costing 681

M.A.P. Dynamic Pricing on the Internet 682

A Strategic Profit and Cost Management

Process 682

Activity-Based Costing and Target Costing 684 Product-Cost Distortion and Pricing: The Role of

Activity-Based Costing 684

Value Engineering and Target Costing 685

Time and Material Pricing 686

Competitive Bidding 688

Effect of Antitrust Laws on Pricing 691

Focus on Ethics: Dynamic Pricing Based on

Individual Profiling 691

Chapter Summary 692

Review Problem on Cost-Plus Pricing 693

Key Terms 694

Review Questions 694

Exercises 695

Problems 697

Cases 704



16 Capital Expenditure Decisions 70

Section 1: Discounted-Cash-Flow Analysis

Net-Present-Value Method 712

Internal-Rate-of-Return Method 712



Comparing Two Investment Projects 717

Managerial Accountant's Role 720

Postaudit 720

Real Option Analysis 721

Section 2: Income Taxes and Capital Budgeting 721

After-Tax Cash Flows 721

Accelerated Depreciation 724

After-Tax Cash Flows, Depreciation, and the Tax Law 725

Modified Accelerated Cost Recovery System (MACRS) 726

Gains and Losses on Disposal 728

Investment in Working Capital 729

Extended Illustration of Income-Tax Effects in Capital Budgeting 730

M.A.P. Big Pharma Uses Capital Budgeting in Developing New Drugs 732

Ranking Investment Projects 733

Section 3: Alternative Methods for Making Investment Decisions **734**

Pavback Method 735

Accounting-Rate-of-Return Method 736

Focus on Ethics: Dysfunctional Focus on Early

Cash Flows **739**Chapter Summary *739*

Review Problems on Capital Expenditure Decisions 740

Key Terms 741

Appendix A to Chapter 16: Future Value and Present

Value Tables 742

Appendix B to Chapter 16: Impact of Inflation 744

Review Questions 746

Exercises 747
Problems 750

Cases 757



17 Allocation of Support Activity Costs and Joint Costs 760

Section 1: Service Department Cost Allocation 762

Direct Method 765

Step-Down Method 765

Reciprocal-Services Method 766

Fixed versus Variable Costs 767

M.A.P. Exploding Costs and Cost Reimbursement In The Health Care Industry 769

Dual Cost Allocation 769

Allocate Budgeted Costs 771

Today's Advanced Manufacturing Environment 771

The Rise of Activity-Based Costing 772

Section 2: Joint Product Cost Allocation 772

Allocating Joint Costs 772

M.A.P. Joint Cost Allocation in the Oil and Gas Industry 774

Chapter Summary 775

Review Problem on Service Department Cost

Allocation 776

Key Terms 777

Appendix to Chapter 17: Reciprocal-Services Method 777

Review Questions 779

Exercises 779

Problems 781

Cases 786

Appendix I: The Sarbanes—Oxley Act, Internal Controls, and Management Accounting **788**

Appendix II: Compound Interest and the

Concept of Present Value 794

Appendix III: Inventory Management 802

References for "In Their Own Words" 809

Glossary 812

Index of Companies and Organizations 823

Index of Subjects 826

Focus on Ethics Statement 848

Note: Entries printed in **blue** denote topics that emphasize contemporary issues in managerial accounting and cost management.

Design Elements: (mouse): ©Image Source, all rights reserved; (globe): ©Doug Armand/Getty Image; (scale): ©DNY59/Getty Images; (tablet): ©McGraw-Hill Education; (pen): ©Shutterstock/wrangler

Chapter Openers: (Disney): ©Eye Ubiquitous/Superstock; (tablet): ©Robert Mora/Alamy; (paddle): ©Alexey_Ulyanov/Shutterstock; (baseball glove): ©Photodisc/Getty Images; (drone controller): ©IM_VISUALS/Shutterstock; (donuts): ©Photodisc/PunchStock; (masks): ©Ingram Publishing/Alamy; (watch): ©scanrail/123RF; (mixer): ©mrgarry/123RF; (dessert): ©Elena Veselova/Shutterstock; (hat): ©Shutterstock/Madlen; (snorkel): ©Alexey_Ulyanov/Shutterstock; (hat): ©Shutterstock; (masks): ©Ingram Publishing/Alamy; (watch): ©scanrail/123RF; (mixer): ©mrgarry/123RF; (dessert): ©Elena Veselova/Shutterstock; (hat): ©Shutterstock/Madlen; (snorkel): ©Alexey_Ulyanov/Shutterstock; (hat): ©Photodisc/PunchStock; (lampara Publishing/Alamy; (watch): ©Shutterstock/Madlen; (snorkel): ©Alexey_Ulyanov/Shutterstock; (baseball glove): ©Shutterstock; (masks): ©Ingram Publishing/Alamy; (watch): ©scanrail/123RF; (mixer): ©mrgarry/123RF; (dessert): ©Elena Veselova/Shutterstock; (hat): ©Shutterstock/Madlen; (snorkel): ©Alexey_Ulyanov/Shutterstock; (hat): ©Shutterstock; (hat): ©Shutterstock/Madlen; (snorkel): ©Alexey_Ulyanov/Shutterstock; (hat): ©Shutterstock/Madlen; (snorkel): ©Alexey_Ulyanov/Shutterstock; (hat): ©Shutterstock/Madlen; (snorkel): ©Alexey_Ulyanov/Shutterstock; (hat): ©Shutterstock/Madlen; (snorkel): ©Alexey_Ulyanov/Shutterstock; (hat): ©Shutterstock/Madlen; (snorkel): ©Alexey_Ulyanov/Shutterstock/Madlen; (snorkel): ©Alexey_Ulyanov/Shutterstock/Madlen; (snorkel): ©Alexey_Ulyanov/Shutterstock/Madlen; (snorkel): OAlexey_Ulyanov/Shutterstock/Madlen; (snorkel): OAlexey_Ulyanov/Shutterstock/M